Archaeological Institute of America

EXTRACT FROM THE SUPPLEMENT TO VOLUME XII
OF THE JOURNAL OF THE INSTITUTE

TWENTY-SEVENTH ANNUAL REPORT

OF THE

MANAGING COMMITTEE

OF THE

AMERICAN SCHOOL OF CLASSICAL STUDIES AT ATHENS

1907-08

Mith the Report of

B. H. HILL, Director

AMERICAN SCHOOL AT ATHENS

MANAGING COMMITTEE

1908-1909

Professor James R. Wheeler (Chairman), Columbia University, New York, N.Y.

Professor Samuel E. Bassett, University of Vermont, Burlington, Vt.

Professor W. N. Bates, University of Pennsylvania, Philadelphia, Pa.

Professor Paul Baur, Yale University, New Haven, Conn.

Professor C. P. Bill, Western Reserve University, Cleveland, O.

Professor Edward Capps, Princeton University, Princeton, N.J.

Professor Mitchell Carroll, George Washington University, Washington, D.C.

Professor A. C. Chapin, Wellesley College, Wellesley, Mass.

Professor George H. Chase, Harvard University, Cambridge, Mass.

Professor Edward B. Clapp, University of California, Berkeley, Cal.

Professor Martin L. D'Ooge, University of Michigan, Ann Arbor, Mich.

Professor Edgar A. Emens, Syracuse University, Syracuse, N.Y.

Professor Arthur Fairbanks, Museum of Fine Arts, Boston, Mass.

Professor Harold N. Fowler (Chairman of the Committee on Fellowships),

Western Reserve University, Cleveland, O.

Professor Henry Gibbons, University of Pennsylvania, Philadelphia, Pa.

Professor Basil L. Gildersleeve, Johns Hopkins University, Baltimore, Md.

Professor Thomas D. Goodell, Yale University, New Haven, Conn.

Professor William W. Goodwin, Harvard University, Cambridge, Mass.

Professor William Gardner Hale, University of Chicago, Chicago, Ill.

Professor W. A. Heidel, Wesleyan University, Middletown, Conn.

Professor John H. Hewitt, Williams College, Williamstown, Mass.

Mr. B. H. Hill (ex officio, as Director of the School), Athens, Greece.

Professor Joseph Clark Hoppin, 1527, 18th Street, Washington, D.C.

Professor George E. Howes, Williams College, Williamstown, Mass.

Professor F. W. Kelsey (ex officio, as President of the Institute), University

of Michigan, Ann Arbor, Mich.

Professor William A. Lamberton, University of Pennsylvania, Philadelphia, Pa.

Mr. Gardiner M. Lane (Treasurer), 44, State Street, Boston, Mass.

Professor Abby Leach, Vassar College, Poughkeepsie, N.Y.

Professor George Dana Lord, Dartmouth College, Hanover, N. H.

Professor J. Irving Manatt, Brown University, Providence, R.I.

Miss Ellen F. Mason, 1, Walnut Street, Boston, Mass.

* Professor Charles Eliot Norton, Harvard University, Cambridge, Mass.

Professor James M. Paton, 65, Sparks Street, Cambridge, Mass.

Professor Bernadotte Perrin, Yale University, New Haven, Conn.

^{*} Deceased.

Professor Edward Delavan Perry, Columbia University, New York, N.Y. Professor William Carey Poland, Brown University, 53, Lloyd Avenue, Providence, R.I.

Professor W. K. Prentice (Professor in the School), Athens, Greece.

Professor Louise F. Randolph, Mount Holyoke College, South Hadley, Mass.

Professor Caroline L. Ransom, Bryn Mawr College, Bryn Mawr, Pa.

Professor Horatio M. Reynolds (Secretary), Yale University, New Haven, Conn.

Professor Rufus B. Richardson, Woodstock, Conn.

Professor D. M. Robinson, Johns Hopkins University, Baltimore, Md.

Dr. Edward Robinson, Metropolitan Museum, New York, N.Y.

Professor Paul Shorey, University of Chicago, Chicago, Ill.

Professor H. De F. Smith, Amherst College, Amherst, Mass.

Professor Herbert Weir Smyth, Harvard University, Cambridge, Mass.

Professor J. R. SITLINGTON STERRETT (Associate Editor of the Journal of the Institute), Cornell University, Ithaca, N.Y.

Professor Frank B. Tarbell, University of Chicago, Chicago, Ill.

Professor FitzGerald Tisdall, College of the City of New York, New York, N.Y.

Professor Charles C. Torrey (ex officio, as Chairman of the Managing Committee of the School in Palestine), Yale University, New Haven, Conn.

Professor Henry M. Tyler, Smith College, Northampton, Mass.

Professor William R. Ware, Professor Emeritus of Columbia University, Milton, Mass.

Professor William E. Waters, New York University, New York, N.Y.

Professor Andrew F. West (ex officio, as Chairman of the Managing Committee of the School in Rome), Princeton University, Princeton, N.J.

President Benjamin Ide Wheeler, University of California, Berkeley, Cal.

Professor John Williams White, Harvard University, Cambridge, Mass.

Professor Samuel Ross Winans, Princeton University, Princeton, N.J.

* Professor John Henry Wright, Harvard University, Cambridge, Mass.

COLLEGES AND UNIVERSITIES WHICH COÖPERATE IN THE SUPPORT OF THE SCHOOL

ADELBERT COLLEGE OF WESTERN RE- PRINCETON UNIVERSITY. SERVE UNIVERSITY. AMHERST COLLEGE. BROWN UNIVERSITY. BRYN MAWR COLLEGE. COLLEGE OF THE CITY OF NEW YORK. COLUMBIA UNIVERSITY. CORNELL UNIVERSITY. DARTMOUTH COLLEGE. GEORGE WASHINGTON UNIVERSITY. HARVARD UNIVERSITY. JOHNS HOPKINS UNIVERSITY. MOUNT HOLYOKE COLLEGE. NEW YORK UNIVERSITY.

SMITH COLLEGE. SYRACUSE UNIVERSITY. UNIVERSITY OF CALIFORNIA. UNIVERSITY OF CHICAGO. UNIVERSITY OF MICHIGAN. UNIVERSITY OF PENNSYLVANIA. UNIVERSITY OF VERMONT. VASSAR COLLEGE. WELLESLEY COLLEGE. WESLEYAN UNIVERSITY. WILLIAMS COLLEGE. YALE UNIVERSITY.

* Deceased.

TRUSTEES OF THE SCHOOL

* Professor Charles Eliot Norton (President). Professor William W. Goodwin (Secretary). Mr. GARDINER M. LANE (Treasurer). Professor Basil L. Gildersleeve. Hon. FRANCIS C. LOWELL. Professor WILLIAM M. SLOANE. Mr. SAMUEL D. WARREN. Professor James R. Wheeler. Professor John WILLIAMS WHITE.

EXECUTIVE COMMITTEE OF THE SCHOOL AT ATHENS

THE CHAIRMAN OF THE MANAGING COMMITTEE, ex officio.

THE SECRETARY OF THE MANAGING COMMITTEE, ex officio.

THE TREASURER OF THE MANAGING COMMITTEE, ex officio.

THE PRESIDENT OF THE ARCHAEOLOGICAL INSTITUTE, ex officio.

THE CHAIRMAN OF THE MANAGING COMMITTEE OF THE SCHOOL IN Rome, ex officio.

Professor Manatt and Professor Ransom, until 1909.

Professor Bassett and Professor Heidel, until 1910.

* Deceased.

TWENTY-SEVENTH ANNUAL REPORT OF THE MANAGING COMMITTEE OF THE AMERICAN SCHOOL OF CLASSICAL STUDIES AT ATHENS

To the Council of the Archaeological Institute of America:

Gentlemen, — I have the honor to report to you on the affairs of the American School of Classical Studies at Athens for the year ending August 31, 1908.

In the death of Professor Thomas Day Seymour of Yale, which occurred on the 31st of December, 1907, the Managing Committee has lost one of its oldest and most influential members. Professor Seymour was elected to the Committee in 1884, and from that time to the end of his life his interest in the School and its work was unceasing. He was Chairman of the Managing Committee from 1887 to 1901, years which witnessed the growth of the School from small and uncertain beginnings to a condition of permanence and promise. Part of this period was a time of much anxiety and perplexity, and that many difficulties were successfully overcome was largely due to Professor Seymour's tact, selfcommand, and high wisdom. That his last appearance on any public occasion should have been at the celebration of the twenty-fifth anniversary of the founding of the School to which he had devoted so much time and strength seems singularly and strangely fitting.

The Board of Trustees of the School has lost one of its early members in the death, on July 21, 1908, of Bishop Henry C. Potter of New York. Bishop Potter at the time of the incorporation of the School lent his great influence in the task of raising much-needed funds.

American Journal of Archaeology, Second Series. Journal of the Archaeological Institute of America, Vol. XII (1908), Supplement. The membership of the Managing Committee has been increased by the election of the following gentlemen: Professor D. M. Robinson of Johns Hopkins, Professor Goodell of Yale, Professor Shorey of Chicago, and Professor Capps of Princeton.

The plans for the celebration of the twenty-fifth anniversary of the opening of the School were successfully carried out, and on November 23, 1907, a dinner was given in Boston to celebrate the event. Some sixty persons were present, including representatives of the Board of Trustees and of the Managing Committee. A good number also of former students at the School were present. Professor Goodwin, the first Director, presided at the dinner. The festivities at Athens in honor of the anniversary are described in the Director's report.

Progress has been made in the arrangements for enlarging the School building, but it has not yet been possible to begin the work. Plans have been drawn and sketches of them were submitted to various persons in this country who have had experience in the present building. The plans are now in the hands of the Director for the preparation of estimates. Mr. James Loeb has generously offered to defray one half the cost of the work.

The Committee on Fellowships report the following appointments for the ensuing year: Fellow of the School, George W. Elderkin, who has been the Fellow of the Institute during the present year; Fellow of the Institute, John Bowen Edwards of Johns Hopkins University; Fellow in Architecture on the stipend of the Carnegie Institution, William B. Dinsmoor, a graduate of Harvard University. Mr. Dinsmoor has already published an elaborate study of the Mausoleum at Halicarnassus in the Journal of Archaeology (1908).

There have been in all six students at the School during the year, five regular members and one associate member. The following institutions are represented among the students: Harvard, the University of Pennsylvania, Radcliffe, Wellesley, Dartmouth, Johns Hopkins, and Adelbert.

The special studies of the students, the open meetings, the excavations, and the publications which the School now has on hand are mentioned in the Director's report, and are therefore passed by, here. That work of excellent quality is being done

at the School is plain. Thus the article on the "Metopon in the Erechtheum," by Mr. Caskey and Mr. Hill (A.J.A. 1908, pp. 184 ff.), is a truly rare specimen of acute observation and reasoning in the study of architectural archaeology. Exceedingly gratifying too is the great success of Mr. Seager's excavation in Crete, which has resulted in very valuable discoveries.

I regret greatly to report the resignation of Mr. Caskey as Secretary of the School. He retires to accept the position of Assistant Curator in the Department of Classical Art at the Museum of Fine Arts in Boston. Mr. Caskey began his service as Secretary just after the death of the late Director, Dr. Heermance, and the great efficiency of his work both in scholarship and in the routine duties of his office has placed the School under great obligation to him. Dr. Elderkin has been appointed Assistant Secretary to succeed him.

During the coming year Professor William K. Prentice of Princeton will be at the School as the annually appointed professor.

For the Managing Committee.

J. R. WHEELER, Chairman.

11

Since the close of the period covered by the foregoing report, the death of Professor Charles Eliot Norton has taken place. Professor Norton, who died on October 21, 1908, is rightly looked upon as the founder of the School at Athens, and he has himself given a brief account, in the Journal of Archaeology for 1903, of the steps which he took to bring about its establishment. For many years he was an active member of the Managing Committee, and when failing health prevented his attendance at the meetings, the officers of the School were still able to go to him for advice. His sure faith in the permanent power of Greek thought and Greek art, which moved him to urge the founding of the School, never failed to inspire those who sought his wise counsel.

The School has suffered another heavy loss in the death, on November 25, 1908, of Professor John Henry Wright. Professor Wright became a member of the Managing Committee in 1896 when he assumed the editorship of the *Journal of Archaeology*, and he served the School as the annually appointed pro-

fessor in 1906-1907. Both as Editor of the Journal, and as the one on the Editorial Committee for the "Argive Heraeum" who was in charge of the printing, he gave his time and strength to the School without stint in the work of publication. His sound judgment, great tact, and unfailing charity in all the relations of life made him an ideal counsellor and friend.

American School at Athens

The School has indeed been fortunate in the character of those to whom its existence is due and who guided the early years of its work, but to none of them is a greater debt of gratitude due than to Professor Norton, Professor Seymour, and Professor Wright.

REPORT OF THE DIRECTOR 1907–1908

To the Managing Committee of the American School of Classical Studies at Athens:

Gentlemen,—I beg to submit the following report upon the affairs of the School at Athens, for the year ending August 31, 1908.

The School was formally opened on October 2, 1907, the twenty-fifth anniversary of its first meeting in Athens. The enrolment showed five regular members, of whom three were here for their second year, and one had been for two years a member of the School in Rome. During October and the first week in November the usual excursions in the Peloponnesus, Phocis, and Boeotia were made under the guidance of the Secretary, Mr. Caskey.

The regular exercises of the winter began on November 30, with the opening lecture of Professor Clapp's course in Pindar, which he thus describes: "After some consultation with friends of the School at home and with the Director at Athens, I decided to try the experiment of offering instruction in Greek Literature, rather than in any department of archaeology. Opportunities for archaeological study are, of course, ample in Athens, and it appeared not unlikely that our students might be glad of some assistance in retaining and strengthening their hold on classical Greek. The proposal was accepted by the students with approbation, and I therefore announced a course of two lectures weekly on Pindar. The lectures were given regularly from December 1 to April 1, and were attended by all the students with the exception of the Fellow in Architecture, as well as by the Secretary of the School. Most of the odes of Pindar and a large number of the fragments were read, translated, and explained. To the instructor, at least, it proved a rare enjoyment to work with such mature and earnest students."

In archaeology the members of the School have again had the benefit of lectures by Professors Dörpfeld and Heberdey, and Dr. Karo, to whom our indebtedness, already very great, is thus increased. In February and March, I conducted a sort of Seminary in fifth and fourth century sculpture, before which five papers were read by the students, three in the National Museum here, and two at Delphi. At Delphi, Mr. Smith and Miss Gardiner, studying the offering of the Thessalian Daochos (B.C.H., 1899, pp. 421–485, pls. 9–12, 24, and 26), added some small fragments to the group, made a promising rearrangement of certain figures, and in particular demonstrated that the inferior statue hitherto identified as "Sisyphus II" (B.C.H., 1899, pl. 9) never stood on the base to which it has been assigned. The results of this work are to be embodied in a paper for the Journal of Archaeology.

The special study of the students has in general been as follows: Miss Gardiner has worked at sculpture, and is now preparing for publication a selection from the unpublished marbles in the museum at Corinth. Mr. Smith has continued his study, begun last year, of the activity of foreign residents in Athens in the sixth and fifth centuries B.C. He is also preparing to publish the Greek inscriptions found at Corinth since 1901. Mr. Smith also assisted at the excavations there until the beginning of May, when an attack of fever brought his work for the year to an abrupt close. Dr. Elderkin has had charge of a section of the excavations throughout the campaign, and of the whole work during my absence at the time of Mr. Smith's illness. He has also made a prolonged study of the Fountain of Glaucé, which was necessitated by further developments since its publication in 1900. Before the beginning of the season's work at Corinth, his attention was given chiefly to a study of early pottery. Mr. Whitman has taken as a special topic for study, the Greek attitude toward death, and the essay which he presents is on the development of sepulchral reliefs, in motive rather than in style, from the archaic period to the end of the fifth century B.C. Mr. Wood spent the first three weeks of the year in Italy studying Roman architecture, with special reference to the work at Corinth. He has drawn the general plan of the excavations, to be pub-

16

lished with the report of work done in 1907, and has continued the preparation of the restored plan begun last year for the Bulletin on Corinth. This has led him to make a careful study of the Propylaea at Corinth, and of the façade with colossal figures (A.J.A. 1902, pp. 7–22, pls. 1–6), which materially advances our knowledge of both structures. Mr. Wood has also made a set of drawings of the circular building dedicated by Cn. Babbius Philenus, considerable remains of which have been found during the last two years at Corinth. His valuable study of the Athenian Propylaea, nearly completed last year, was resumed for a time during the winter and finished.

Four successful open meetings were held during the year, the larger number being due, in part, to the postponement from last year of three of the papers. The attendance at all the meetings was good, and at the third and fourth it taxed the capacity of the Library. The programmes of the several meetings were as follows:

J	anuary 10.
	Excavati

Excavations at Corinth in 1907,	B. H. HILL
The "Metopon" in the Erechtheum,	L. D. CASKEY
February 7.	
Thomas Day Seymour,	E. B. CLAPP
The Roofing of the Western Wings of the	
Propylaea,	H. D. WOOD
The Projected Northeast Hall of the	
Propylaea,	B. H. HILL
February 28.	
Apparatus for Priestly Imposture in a	
Sanctuary at Corinth,	B. H. HILL
Architectural Restorations at Corinth,	H. D. Wood
March 10.	
Inscriptions from Corinth,	К. К. Ѕмітн
The Offering of Daochos at Delphi,	MISS E. M. GARDINER
Λιπαραὶ 'Αθῆναι,	E. B. CLAPP

The sad and unlooked for news of the death of Professor Seymour came a few days after the first meeting. At the second, Professor Clapp paid a fitting tribute to his memory, briefly and simply, as he would himself have wished. At the first meeting, reference was made to the twenty-fifth anniversary of the School, but there was no formal celebration of the event. Instead of this, a dinner was given on January 17, at

which H. R. H. Prince Constantine of Greece did the School the honor to be present. This was followed by a luncheon on January 21, and by a second less formal dinner on the 22d. At the first dinner, His Royal Highness, Professor Dörpfeld, and the Ephor General of Antiquities, Mr. Kabbadias, and at the luncheon, Professor Mistriotis formally expressed the cordial sentiments toward the School of the Greek and foreign scholars among whom we live; informal expressions of good will were without number.

The Library has been, as during the last year, under the care of the Secretary. He reports the accession of 110 volumes during the year, making the total number now 4788. Thirteen books and three pamphlets have been received as gifts, and a list of the donors is appended to this report.

A brief account of the season's work at Corinth will be published shortly in the Journal of Archaeology, so that all mention of details is omitted here. The present main area of excavation is now, within its limits, much more nearly in a condition that could be called final without discrediting the thoroughness of the work. It has seemed wise, even perhaps at some sacrifice, to make the excavation complete as far as it goes, for the general appearance of the remains is thus much improved, and they are far more easily understood. If, therefore, there should be any failure in the future of financial support, the School will have made a creditable addition to our knowledge of Ancient Corinth. There remain, of course, in the general field a good number of questions partly or wholly unanswered, and these ought to be investigated. To carry on the work most economically a minimum of \$2500 to \$3000 is needed for a season's campaign.

Mr. Richard Seager, who was authorized last spring to apply to the Cretan government in the name of the School for permission to excavate a Minoan site at Mochlos in eastern Crete, has had very great success in his work. He has opened some twenty-four tombs at Mochlos, which have yielded among other things a large number of gold objects such as have not hitherto been found in Crete. These are exceedingly important specimens of Minoan art earlier than the late Minoan or "Mycenaean" period, and they are thus the forerunners of the

splendid gold work which such discoveries as those at Mycenae and Vaphio have made familiar. A fine gold ring with an important representation of a cultus scene is among the finds. This exemplifies a somewhat later stage of Cretan art than most of the gold objects. Excellent pottery and some fine vases in stone were also unearthed, so that altogether Mr. Seager has made a very important contribution to the knowledge of ancient Crete. His work should receive the cordial support of all who are interested in the study of antiquity.

The work on the publication of the Erechtheum has gone on steadily. Mr. Caskey's chapter on the inscriptions has been very nearly completed, and Mr. Stevens, when he was in Greece for a short time during the spring, took most of the notes for some slight changes in his drawings, which the repairs on the temple have necessitated. The work of repairing the temple is now nearly complete.

If there is one regulation of the School which more than another has reason for approval from my own point of view, it is that which provides for sending here annually a professor from one of the supporting institutions. Last year I found the presence of Professor and Mrs. Wright at the School an advantage beyond estimate. Again this year Professor Clapp has, both as an instructor and as the senior member of the household, had a very large share in making the session successful.

Mr. Caskey's services as Secretary have been most valuable to the School in the help he has given to the students and to me, in his care of the Library, and in his own scientific work. I regret very deeply, both for the School and for myself personally, his transfer to the Classical Department of the Museum of Fine Arts in Boston.

I record with pleasure the return to the School for periods all too short, of Dr. D. M. Robinson, Professor J. C. Rolfe, Mrs. Caskey (Miss E. L. Stern), Professor and Mrs. Smyth, and Mr. G. P. Stevens. Among our visitors have been also Professor Miller of the Johns Hopkins University, a number of members of the School in Rome, and Professor E. L. Hewett, Director of the new School of American Archaeology.

Respectfully submitted,

B. H. HILL, Director.

GIFTS TO THE LIBRARY, 1907-1908

Books

The Trustees of the British Museum, 1; the Art Institute of Chicago, 2; Messrs. G. N. Hatzidakis, 1; P. Kastriotis, 1; K. S. Koutos, 1; Miss E. F. McKeen, 1; Mt. Holyoke College, 1; Messrs. Charles Peabody, 1; T. D. Seymour, 1; J. A. Valaoritis, 3.

PAMPHLETS

The Berlin Archaeological Society, 1; Mr. P. L. Negris, 2.

18

SUPPL.]

SCHOOL AT ATHENS

FACULTY AND FELLOWS

1908-1909

Faculty

BERT HODGE HILL, A.M., Director of the School.

PROFESSOR WILLIAM KELLEY PRENTICE, Ph.D., Professor of the Greek Language and Literature.

GEORGE WICKER ELDERKIN, A.B., Ph.D.

Assistant Secretary of the School.

Fellows

GEORGE WICKER ELDERKIN, A.B., Ph.D., Fellow of the School.

JOHN BOWEN EDWARDS, A.B., Fellow of the Institute.

HENRY DUNN WOOD, B.S.,

Fellow in Architecture of the School, on the grant of the Carnegie
Institution of Washington.

AMERICAN SCHOOL AT ATHENS

Annual Reports for 1907-08

1908

THE American School of Classical Studies at Athens was founded by the Archaeological Institute of America in 1881, and is supported by the coöperation of leading American Universities and Colleges. It is in charge of a Managing Committee, and its property is vested in an incorporated Board of Trustees.

REGULATIONS OF THE SCHOOL

THE OBJECT OF THE SCHOOL

I. The object of the School shall be to furnish to graduates of American Universities and Colleges and to other qualified students an opportunity to study Classical Literature, Art, and Antiquities in Athens, under suitable guidance; to prosecute and to aid original research in these subjects; and to cooperate with the Archaeological Institute of America, so far as it may be able, in conducting the exploration and excavation of classic sites.

THE MANAGING COMMITTEE

II. The Managing Committee shall disburse the annual income of the school, and shall have power to make such regulations for its government as it may deem proper. Each of the Universities and Colleges uniting in support of the School shall have representation on the Committee. The President of the Archaeological Institute, the Director of the School, the Chairmen of the Managing Committees of the American School of Classical Studies in Rome and of the American School for Oriental Study and Research in Palestine, and the Editor-in-Chief of the Journal of the Institute, shall be ex officio members of the Committee. The Professors of the School shall also be members of the Committee during their year of office and the year following. The Committee shall have power to add to its membership.

III. The Managing Committee shall meet annually, in New York, on the Friday before the second Saturday in May. By special vote these meetings may be held elsewhere. Special meetings may

members of the School shall make application to the Chairman of the Managing Committee, and if admitted they shall be required to pay a fee of \$25 per annum for tuition and library privileges. Students occupying rooms in the School building shall pay a fee of \$20 per annum for the use of furniture.

XIV. Every regular member of the School shall pursue some definite subject of study or research in Classical Literature, Art, or Antiquities, and shall present a paper embodying the results of some important part of his year's work, unless for special reasons he is excused from these obligations by the Director. His paper, if approved by the Director, shall be sent to the School's representative on the Editorial Board of the Journal of the Institute, in accordance with the provisions of Regulation XXI. If approved by the Editorial Board of the Journal also, it shall be issued as a Paper of the School.

XV. Excavation shall not be part of the regular work of a member of the School, but any member may, at the discretion of the Director, be permitted to take part in it. All work of excavation, of investigation, or of any other kind done by any member during his connection with the School, shall be regarded as done for the School and by the School, and shall be under the supervision and control of the Director.

XVI. No communication, even of an informal nature, shall be made by any member of the School to the public press, which has not previously been submitted to the Director and authorized by him.

XVII. Every regular member of the School who has completed one or more full years of study, the results of which have been approved by the Director, shall receive a certificate stating the work accomplished by him. This certificate shall be signed by the President of the Archaeological Institute, and the Chairman and the Secretary of the Managing Committee.

XVIII. Americans resident or travelling in Greece may, at the discretion of the Director, be allowed to enjoy the privileges of the School, although not enrolled as students.

FELLOWSHIPS

XIX. The Fellowships administered by the Managing Committee shall be awarded mainly by competitive examination. The subjects on which candidates will be examined, and the places and times at which examinations will be held, shall be announced not less than six months in advance.

XX. Every holder of one of these Fellowships shall be enrolled as a regular member of the School, and shall be required to fulfil the maximum requirement of residence, to present a paper embodying the results of some important part of his year's work, and to be a candidate for a certificate.

PUBLICATIONS

XXI. All manuscripts, drawings, or photographs intended for publication in the Papers of the School shall be sent, after approval by the Director, to the School's representative on the Editorial Board of the Journal of the Institute.

XXII. Every article sent for publication shall be written on comparatively light paper of uniform size, with a margin of at least two inches on the left of each page. The writing shall be on only one side of the leaf, and shall be clear and distinct, particularly in the quotations and references. Especial care shall be taken in writing Greek, that the printer may not confound similar letters, and the accents shall be placed strictly above the proper vowels, as in printing. All quotations and references shall be carefully verified by the author, after the article is completed, by comparison with the original sources. Failure to comply with the provisions of this regulation shall be sufficient ground for the rejection of the article.

XXIII. At least two careful squeezes of every inscription discovered by the School shall be taken as soon as possible; of these one shall be sent at once to the Editor-in-Chief of the Journal of the Institute, the other shall be deposited in the Library of the School.

The Managing Committee of the American School of Chassical Studies at Athens						
	In account with Gardiner Martin Lane, Treasurer	American				
Cr.	Dr.	er				
Cash in hands of Treasurer, September 1, 1907,	Salary of Director	ico				
belonging to the following accounts:	Salary of Secretary 1,000.00	n				
Heraeum publication \$1,791.16	Travelling expenses Annual Professor, 1908-09 250.00	J				
Bulletin on Corinth 300.00	Travelling expenses of Director 100.00	no				
Permanent endowment fund of Harvard	Library (books and binding) 475.00	Journal				
University 100.00	Repairs to building, lights, service, etc 1,300.00	al				
Lantern slides 100.00	Fellowship, School 400.00	of				
For general expenses 2,923.71 \$5,214.87	Fellowship, Archaeological Institute 400.00					
Subscriptions, 1906–07:	Carnegie Fellowship in Architecture:	Archaeology,				
Syracuse University 125.00	1907–08	ch				
Bryn Mawr College	1908-09	ae				
Williams College	Excavations at Corinth 1,500.00	olo				
Dartmouth University 150.00 775.00	Printing Journal of Archaeology 800.00	99				
Subscriptions, 1907-08:	Committee expenses					
Cornell University	Treasurer's clerk	Se				
Columbia University	Petty expenses	co				
Adelbert College, Western Reserve Uni- 250.00	Expense of anniversary celebration at Athens 75.00	Second				
versity	Paid trustees of endowment fund 3,000.00					
Wesleyan University 200.00	Lantern slides appropriation transferred	Series				
Harvard University 150.00	to general fund 100.00	ie				
Dartmouth University 200.00	Heraeum publications appropriation					
George Washington University 100.00	transferred to general fund 1,801.66 1,901.66	4				
Amherst University 200.00	Harvard subscription to endowment fund, paid	[Vol.				
University of Pennsylvania 165.00	trustees					
Yale University	Heermance Memorial Fund, paid trustees 10.00	XII				

Wellesley College 250.00 Mount Holyoke College 250.00 Chicago University 250.00 Johns Hopkins University 250.00 Smith College 250.00 Williams College 250.00 University of Vermont 200.00 Princeton University 250.00 Syracuse University 125.00		Balance, cash in hands of Treasurer, August 31, 1908, belonging to the following accounts: Bulletin on Corinth	5,676.88	Suppl.]
Bryn Mawr College	4,340.00			
Subscription, 1908–09:	1,510.00			An
Vassar College	250.00			Annual
Archaeological Institute of America:				ial
Fellowship, 1907–08	600.00			
Carnegie Institution:				Reports
For Carnegie Fellowship in Architecture 1,000.00				001
For Excavations at Corinth 1,500.00	2,500.00			ts
Heraeum publications	10.50			for
Income from endowment fund, treasurer of trustees of				3.
School	4,583.72			18
Interest on deposits	90.17			00
Heermance Memorial Fund	10.00			1907-08
General Fund:				98
Appropriation for lantern slides trans-				
ferred to general fund 100.00				
Appropriation for Heraeum Publication,				
transferred to general fund 1,801.66	1,901.66	*	20,275.92	
\$	\$20,275.92			
Boston, Mass., August 31, 1908. E. & O. E.		GARDINER MARTIN LANE, Treasurer.		
Doston, Mass., August 31, 1906. E. & O. E.		Per R. B. W.		

CONTRIBUTORS TO THE SCHOOLS AT ATHENS AND IN ROME

1907-1908

SCHOOL AT ATHENS

For Current Expenses

For Adelbert College of Western Reserve University:

Messrs. Charles W. Bingham, William E. Cushing, Samuel Mather, William G. Mather, Albert A. Pope. W. S. Tyler.

For Brown University:

This subscription is secured in perpetuity by "The Albert Harkness Fund for the Benefit of Brown University."

Bryn Mawr College.

Columbia University.

Cornell University.

Dartmouth College:

A portion of the subscription depends on individual contributors.

For the George Washington University:

Dr. J. C. Hoppin, Dr. George Horton, Rev. R. L. Howell, Mrs. Gardiner G. Hubbard, Mrs. Hennen Jennings, Mr. Arthur J. Parsons, Mrs. S. W. Woodward.

For Harvard University:

Mrs. J. B. Ames, Mr. A. R. Benner, Mrs. W. G. Farlow, Messrs. W. W. Goodwin, J. C. Hoppin, James Loeb, C. E. Norton, D. W. Ross.

Johns Hopkins University.

Mt. Holyoke College.

Princeton University.

Smith College.

Syracuse University.

For the University of California:

Messrs. William Babcock, † Thomas R. Bacon, Charles R. Bishop, William B. Bourn, † Charles R. Brown, † Charles M. Gayley, Mrs. Phœbe A. Hearst, I. W. Hellman, † James McDonald, James D. Phelan, Louis Sloss & Co., Levi Strauss & Co., † Jacob Voorsanger, Raphael Weill, † Benjamin Ide Wheeler, and Alumni, Friends, and Undergraduates of the University of California.

Total contributions to the Permanent Fund, \$3892.24.

University of Chicago.

For the University of Michigan:

Mrs. Helen H. Newberry, Messrs. T. B. Bronson, D. M. Ferry, Charles L. Freer, F. L. Geddes, Frank J. Hecker, David Heineman, W. H. Murphy, Thos. W. Palmer, William Savidge, E. T. Tappey, Bryant Walker, R. M. Wright.

For the University of Vermont:

Mrs. G. G. Benedict, Messrs. Frederick Billings, Thomas S. Buckham, Charles A. Catlin, Henry W. Clark, John H. Converse, E. N. Foss, Lewis Francis, C. M. Goodrich, J. L. Hall, James B. Hammond, Tracey E. Hazen, Bert H. Hill, Horatio Loomis, Elias Lyman, Mrs. W. A. Manchee, Messrs. Robert Roberts, Frank R. Wells, John B. Wheeler, J. R. Wheeler.

For Vassar College:

Mr. Samuel D. Coykendall.

Wellesley College.

Wesleyan University.

Williams College.

Yale University.

The following names should be added to last year's list:

Miss Katharine M. Cochran, Mr. Sidney N. Deane.

The Treasurer of the Managing Committee of the School at Athens gratefully acknowledges also the following gifts:

For the Fellowship in Architecture:

Carnegie Institution of Washington							\$1000	
For excavation: Carnegie Institution of Washington		•					\$ 1500	
The following gifts are gratefully	ack	nowl	ledge	l by	the	Dir	ector:	
From Miss Mildred E. Cox:							nes 250 nas 100	

[†] These contributed lectures.

FELLOWSHIPS

1909-1910

IN THE SCHOOLS IN ATHENS AND ROME

Fellowships will be awarded as follows for the year 1909–10: at the American School of Classical Studies at Athens, two in Greek Archaeology, with a stipend of \$600 each, and one Fellowship in Architecture (maintained by the Carnegie Institution of Washington), with a stipend of \$1000; and at the American School of Classical Studies in Rome, two Fellowships for Research (maintained by the Carnegie Institution), one in Roman Classical Archaeology, and one in Roman Literature or Roman Classical Archaeology, each with a stipend of \$800, one Fellowship in Roman Classical Archaeology, with a stipend of \$600, and probably one in Christian Archaeology, with a stipend of \$600.

For the year 1909–10 the Fellowship in Architecture at the School at Athens will be awarded without examination, but candidates will be required to submit specimens of their work as draughtsmen; the Fellowships for Research at the School in Rome will be awarded to present or former members of the School, and, at the discretion of the Committee on Fellowships, to other candidates of special qualifications, without an examination. Applications for these Fellowships must be made not later than February 15, 1909.

The remaining Fellowships are awarded chiefly on the basis of competitive written examinations, but other evidence of the ability and attainments of candidates will be considered. They are awarded for one year; a Fellow in Classical Archaeology in either School, however, may, at the discretion of the Committee on Fellowships, be reappointed for a second term without an examination, on the recommendation of the Director and Professors of the School, but not more than one such reappointment will be made in either School in any year, and no Fellowship in Classical Archaeology may be held for more than two years.

The holders of these Fellowships will be enrolled as regular members of the School to which they are attached, and will be required

to pursue their studies, under the supervision of its Director, during the full school year. But Fellows of either School, with the consent of the Director, may spend a limited portion of the year in residence at the other School, under the supervision of its Director. In addition to his general studies, each holder of a Fellowship is required to prosecute some definite subject of special research, and, after the completion of the year, to present a paper embodying the results of his investigation. Twice in the year, namely on February 1 and July 1, each Fellow will make a report to the Chairman of the Committee on Fellowships, with regard to the use which he has made of his time. A somewhat detailed description of the progress of his researches will be required. For the prosecution of his special investigation he may obtain leave, under certain conditions, to supplement his studies at Athens or in Rome by researches elsewhere than in Greece or Italy. (See Regulations XI and XX of the School at Athens, and Regulations XI and XII of the School in Rome.) The Fellow must be a candidate for a certificate.

Each candidate must announce in writing his intention to offer himself for examination. This announcement must be made to the Chairman of the Committee on Fellowships of the School which the candidate wishes to join (Professor H. N. Fowler, Western Reserve University, Cleveland, Ohio, for the School at Athens; and Professor James C. Egbert, Jr., Columbia University, New York, N.Y., for the School in Rome), and must be in the Chairman's hands not later than February 1,1909. The receipt of the application will be acknowledged and the candidate will receive a blank, to be filled out and returned to the Chairman by February 15, in which he will give information in regard to his studies and attainments. A copy of this blank may also be obtained at any time by application to the proper Chairman.

The examinations will be held in Athens, in Rome, and at any of the universities or colleges represented on the Managing Committee of either School, on Monday, Tuesday, and Wednesday, March 8, 9, and 10, 1909, for the Fellowships of the School in Rome; and on Thursday, Friday, and Saturday, March 11, 12, and 13, for the Fellowships of the School at Athens.

The subject for special study in architecture for candidates for Fellowships in Classical Archaeology in the School at Athens is the temple of Zeus at Olympia.

The award of the Fellowships will be made, and notice sent to all candidates, as soon as practicable after the examinations are held. This notice will be mailed probably not later than May 1. The

THE SCHOOL AT ATHENS

Students who desire to apply for admission to the School at Athens should address, if in America, the Chairman of the Managing Committee; if in Europe, the Director of the School. Information with reference to the School may be obtained from either of these officers. The application should be accompanied by a statement of the preparation of the applicant.

The student should gain as great command as possible of the German, French, and Modern Greek languages before going abroad; and the summer preceding a year at the School may profitably be spent in France or Germany, working in the Museums (Paris, Berlin, Dresden, Munich) and obtaining practice in French or German conversation.

The usual port of arrival in Greece for those coming from Western Europe is Patras, eight hours by rail from Athens. To Patras the shortest sea route is from Brindisi (thirty hours, including the stop at Corfu), with three steamers weekly. Those who come from countries north of Italy will avoid the long railway journey to Brindisi by taking the weekly express steamer from Trieste. The Italian steamer from Venice is less direct.

From Marseilles there are weekly steamers to the Piraeus, via Naples; also to Patras; and from Genoa fortnightly steamers, via other Italian and Sicilian ports, to the Piraeus, touching at Crete.

If the student wishes to go directly from America to Italy, he will take one of the lines which have a regular express service from New York or Boston to Genoa and Naples (minimum price about \$95 for first-cabin passage), or one of the Navigazione Generale or the Prince Line Steamers to Naples. Brindisi is twelve hours by rail from Naples.

The cost of living in Athens is very much what one chooses to make it; but one may live cheaply with much more comfort than in America. At the large hotels in Athens, board and lodging can be obtained for \$14 per week; at small hotels and in private families, for \$7.50 per week, and upward. A limited number of men students may have rooms, without board, in the School building at Athens.

The School library at Athens, which now contains more than four thousand volumes, provides all the books that are most essential for study in Greece, and the student in travelling should encumber himself with few books.

